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USe various devices to maintain .or:jngrease their
competitive advantage. One such.device is dis-
-2y, including those aspects of the built environ-
.gzgnt over which individuals or groups have con-

Non-verbal Communication at : - ¥l- Upper Fort Garry provides an opportunity to

Upper Fort Garry

ABSTRACT

The archival research component of the Upper Fort Garry
~ Archaeological Project recovered extensive detailed infor-
mation on the architectural history of the fort. It quickly
became clear that the changes in architecture during the
fort's occupancy (1836-1881) corresponded closely to eco-
nomic and social changes in the Red River Settlement at
large. Built by the Hudson’s Bay Company to house is

administrative elite in North America, the fort played a -

-examine from a diachronic perspective the sym-
bolic role of architectural form and space in com-
petitive relationships between economic and social
groups. This examination also provides an oppor-
tunity to evaluate what McGuire and Schiffer
(1983:283) describe as a lag effect between
changes in social inequality and changes in archi-
tectural design.

Other archacologists have dealt with related top-
ics (cf. Leone 1982). Deetz (1977) has identified
Medieval and Georgian mindsets in the material
culture, including architecture, of colonial New
England. Leone (1973, 1977) has shown the rela-

central role, both physically and conceptually, in the life of - tiomship between the temporal and spiritual world

the settlement. This article takes a nog-verbal communica-
ﬁonappmachwmefonandexammnmasctofmhig

.in“the Mormon organization of architectural and

tectural symbols by means of which the Hudson's Bay = -Seftlement space. Similarly, Fritz was able to relate

LA

Company established and maintained its dominant position=_ architecture and settlement patterns to implicit ide-

in economic and social relations with its employees &
with settlers, .

-

atpdnal principles at both Chaco Canyon (Fritz
1978) and Vijayanagara (Fritz 1987). Murray

33;:( L9B5) has shown how the North West Mounted

‘ & “Poliee outpost of Fort Walsh expressed the impe-
Introduction £2* rial domination of English, Protestant Ontario over

% ~other groups then in Confederation and over fron-

This article discusses the relationship betwefﬁiﬁer regions that later joined Canada. Culpin and

level employees, and it was the administrative ceni~2 c¢ause some form of physical shelter is a universal

ter of the Red River Settlement and the Northern
Department between 1836 and 1882. The fort grew
in size and complexity, and it underwent a major
reorientation, not only in conjunction with changes
in the settlement and as a result of internal oper-
ating requirements, but also, as will be argued
here, as a result of the Company’s effort to express
and continually reinforce by means of architectural
symbolism its dominant economic and social po-
sition within the settlement. This article assumes
that economic competition between individuals
and groups is a major causative agent of cultural
evolution. It follows that individuals and groups

- ~human artifact, and the type of shelter, its internal

* organization, and its position in relation to other
phenomena within and outside the site provide in-
formation on the organizational rules and the per-
ception of reality that underlie the creation and use
of these artifacts. As McGuire and Schiffer (1983:
280) note, the goal of architecture is to express
both utilitarian and symbolic functions.

Conceptual Framework

A recent synthesis of studies of the built eavi-
ronment identified three approaches to the study of
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its meaning: semiotic, symbolic, and non-verbal
(Rapoport 1982:36-55).The non-verbal approach
was favored-due to its emiphasis on meaning and its
pragmatic emphasis on visual cues. It also was
thought to provide a basis for understanding sym-
bolic communication (Rapoport 1982:52). The
analysis of Upper Fort Garry centers on architec-
tural symbolism and uses archival illustrations and
documents to reveal the non-verbal cues upon
which inferences about the cultural messages en-
coded in the fort’s architecture are made (cf. Rap-
oport 1982:48-51). These inferences are based on
the writings of some Red River settlers, and they
provide the inferential basis for bridging argu-
ments that connect architectural symbols with cul-
turally meaningful messages. These symbols are
discussed below in terms of what Rapoport (1982:
88-89) terms fixed and semi-fixed feature ele-
ments.

Fixed feature elements—e.g., walls, ceilings,
floors, buildings, and streets—communicate
meaning, especially in traditional cultures, accord-
ing to their size, location, sequence, and arrange-
ment (Rapoport 1982:88—89). Alexander Ross,
who in 1852 published his observations of the Red
River Settlement, made the following observations
about buildings and the people occupying them. In
the early days of the settlement, houses were hum-
ble one or two room wooden—i.e., log—buildings
about 20-30 ft. long and costing about £20. A
“‘superior class of dwelling,”” such as the one in
which Ross lived, was 40-60 ft. long; rested on a
stone foundation; had windows, doors, a shingled
roof, and painted interior walls; and was coated
with lime on the outside. Such a house cost
£300. Shortly before the time of his writing,
two-story houses appeared, and the *‘luxury’ of
glass windows and outer door locks became fash-
ionable and widespread for the first time. Building
with stone and lime also first appeared in 1830
(Ross 1957:140-141). By the late 1860s, two-
story houses outside Upper Fort Garry were still
not common (Hargrave 1977:196). Houses were
reported to have been made of different woods.
Oak was used for the exterior walls, pine for the
floors, and basswood for furniture. Oak and cedar
were used for shingles, although the latter was
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“Farer. Most people used straw thatch, however,

'%/hich was light, waterproof, and durable (Ross
3§957:388). ‘‘Squatters,” i.e., Métis, almost in.
ariably built one-room log huts which were com-
“nlete disorganization inside. The better ones had
“two rooms. In contrast, *‘Canadians of any stand.
ing”’ kept their houses neat. Scots settlers lived in
warm, comfortable houses (Ross 1957:195, 199).
Observations beginning in 1861 by J. J. Har-
grave depict a similar scene and a similar set of
attitudes. Houses in the Métis settlements were
described as ‘‘mere huts consisting of one chamber
each, lighted by a single window, but from time to
time we passed one of more pretentions . . .”
(Hargrave 1977:67). A further description notes:

One of the most characteristic features of the colony is the
evanescent nature of its dwelling houses, which seem to
resemble in that respect the lodges of the savages, remov-
able from day to day and leaving no trace behind. The
material used for building is wood, and the majority of the
touses inhabited by the poorer classes have caly one or two
rooms (Hargrave 1977:180).

1

e

Construction was of a primitive nature, most huts
being built of unseasoned wood that opened cracks
in walls, floors, and partitions. Even residences of
the comparatively prosperous often lacked basic
comforts (Hargrave 1977:468). St. Boniface cathe-
dral and the Bishop's residence were rebuilt of
stone after the 1860 fire, and some of the wealthier
residences in the settlement were also built of
stone. The problem with this material, however,
was the inability to provide it with a proper foun-
dation, thus necessitating constant repair to avoid
the ravages of a constantly moving sedimentary
soil (Hargrave 1977:180). Houses in the heart of
the Scottish settlement are described as numerous,
generally small, and interspersed with occasional
comfortable, roomy dwellings. At St. Andrew's,
near Lower Fort Garry, houses were closely clus-
tered and whitewashed, and even closer to the fort
there were some very comfortable private houses
that were home to some of the settlement’s wealth-
jer residents (Hargrave 1977:191-192).

Another means of display may occur through
manipulation of semi-fixed features. These fea-
tures include furniture, curtains, plants, and gar-
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den layouts and are more subject than fixed feature
elements to a phenomenon known as ‘‘personal-

ization”’ Rapoport (1982:22, 89). Personalization,

and variations in it, establishes and expresses cul-
tral meaning, group identity, and status because
symbolism—i.e., meaning—is central to all envi-
ronments and because meaning is culturally spe-
cific and hence culturally variable (Rapoport 1982:
21, 44-48). The Bachelor’s Hall at Upper Fort
Garry contained a large room that was the main
public room of the fort. Opening off this room
were a number of private rooms. Within it stood a
wooden table with assorted newspapers, and broad
plugs of Cavendish (pipe tobacco) in the corner,
while a low sofa and chairs were scattered around
the room (Hargrave 1977:186). Company officers,
who would use shipping crates for furniture while
travelling, would be able to avail themselves of all
the conveniences of civilization when they were at
Upper Fort Garry. These conveniences included
peculiarities of individual taste that were most of-
ten expressed in the bedroom. While most men
made do with the basics, some adorned their
rooms with ornamental items such as masks, guns,
shot, flasks, powder horns, fire bags, and native
and European art (Hargrave 1977:195). Books and
musical instruments, sometimes including pianos,
were also found in fur trade posts (Hargrave 1977:
195). Gardening, another form of personalization,
was an activity only of the wealthy in the late
1860s, and even then, exotic plants were scarce
(Hargrave 1977:467).

Literate British males who observed the fixed
and semi-fixed feature elements of Red River Set-
tlement architecture appear to have perceived the
symbols that were embodied in buildings and to
have understood implicitly their meanings. Thus
Ross (1957:142-143) used terms like ‘‘commodi-
ous,”’ ‘‘these splendid establishments,'’ and *‘its
gay and imposing appearance’’ in describing Up-
per Fort Garry and the buildings in it, and he notes
that the stone houses of the Scots settlers are
‘‘handsome’’ and indicative of prosperity. By con-
trast, Hargrave (1977:180) observed that ‘‘the
poorer classes’’ inhabited one- or two-room
wooden dwellings. The built environment, both
fixed and semi-fixed feature elements, contained

recognizable symbols with clear cultural meaning.
But Rapaport (1982:81) states that built environ-
ments are culture-specific, so that decoding them
depends on knowledge of the relévant cultural
schemata. Further, he states that conflicts can arise
in pluralistic contexts when the same environmen-
tal cues elicit different meanings and behaviors
(Rapoport 1982:64). Given that there were differ-
ent ethnic and religious groups within Red River
society and that this diversity grew over time, were
the symbolic messages encoded in Upper Fort
Garry equally intelligible to members of all
groups? While there is no documentation that helps
directly to answer this question, it is likely that
those groups from Britain, France, Upper Canada,
and Lower Canada easily understood the visual
cues encoded in the fort because of their shared
Norman/Anglo-Saxon medieval tradition. The
mixed-bloods and the Métis probably learned to
recognize and interpret the correct visual cues from
their British or French parents, but even if this
were not so, their day-to-day contact with the Hud-
son’s Bay Company (HBC) and North West Com-
pany (NWC) would have provided them with the
correct interpretive schemata. Likewise, the ab-
original population, accustomed to interacting with
Europeans within this kind of architectural context
since 1670 on the shores of Hudson’s Bay and
since 1736 in the Red/Assiniboine region, also
would have learned the basic cultural schemata.
Not all groups were equally inclined to accept the
messages that the fort was intended to communi-
cate, as historical events showed, but their in-
tended meaning was likely well understood by all
target audiences. The present analysis of those
symbols and their meaning attempts to go beyond
the limited historical documentation and recreate
an internally consistent system of symbols and
meanings, based on historical illustrations and
documents, that is thought to have been more or
less shared by all occupants of the Red River Set-
tlement.

Historical Background

The Red River Settlement grew up around the
junction of the Red and Assiniboine Rivers, known
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FIGURE 1. Map of Canada showing selected rivers and fur trade forts.

as the Forks (cf. Morton 1957; Ross 1957; Guinn
1980). Control over this strategic transportation
junction was critical to the western fur trade for
two reasons. First, pemmican made on the north-
ern plains and used as a dietary staple by the fur
brigades that serviced the trading posts of the
North Saskatchewan River and the northern boreal
forest had to pass through it. Second, both com-
panies used the Forks as a critical part of their
operations. The NWC moved its trade goods to the
North Saskatchewan River from Montreal via Fort
William, and the HBC established an agricultural
colony at the Forks (Figure 1). During the period
of intense fur trade competition between the HBC
and the NWC (ca. 1767-1821), the tactic of inter-
rupting each other’s trade and supply routes was
employed, resulting in the construction at the
Forks of Fort Gibraltar I in 1810 by the NWC and

the establishment of the agricultural Selkirk Settle-
ment, centered around Fort Douglas, by the HBC
in 1811 (Figure 2). Not only did each Company
threaten the other’s pemmican supply, but the
HBC also gained the double advantage of, first,
cutting its food supply costs through local agricul-
tural production, although crop failures were fre-
quent; and, second, placing a major obstacle
across the main NWC supply route between Fort
William on Lake Superior and the North Saskatch-
ewan River (Figure 1). The HBC’s advantage was
mixed, though, for it recognized that the settle-
ment would ultimately be in conflict with its own
fur trade interests (Provincial Archives of Mani-
toba [PAM] 1822; Morton 1957:68; Livermore
1976:71; Pannekoek 1987:5). In 1816 the HBC-
sponsored settlers seized Fort Gibraltar I, disman-
tled much of it, and razed the rest; a large mounted
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t /A French Canadians and Métis (mixed Native and
French Canadian) Roman Catholics who had
worked for the NWC. They and their wives and
) children had less to do with agriculture than with
~ wage labor, fishing, and hunting for pemmican

@ Roman Catholic Chuich

St. Boniface

St. vitat

FIGURE 2. Map of the Red River Seitlement showing the
Red and Assiniboine Rivers, major building complexes,
and selected parishes.

force, principally Métis who worked with and for
the NWC, retaliated by killing 21 settlers at Seven
Oaks and taking over Fort Douglas. Hostilities
cooled enough that in 1817 Fort Douglas was re-
turned to HBC control at the same time as the new
Fort Gibraltar II was built at the Forks. The HBC
and NWC merged under the former name in 1821,
restoring the fur trading monopoly, originally
granted by Prince Rupert in 1670, over northern

production (Hargrave 1977:466; Pannekoek 1987:
19).

The HBC merger with the NWC meant that by
1831 English Anglicans were the economic and
social elite of the settlement (Van Kirk 1980:204,
218). Scottish Presbyterians could and did achieve
high office in the HBC, but they never controlled
it. English-speaking mixed-bloods, both Anglican
and Presbyterian, enjoyed relatively good eco-
nomic and social prospects for a time (Judd 1980:
311-312). The males sometimes followed their fa-
thers in the Company’s service, and their sisters
were frequently married to traders and Company
officials (Livermore 1976:107-108, 167-184; Van
Kirk 1980:160; Brown 1980:77). French-speaking
Catholics, both Canadian and Métis, were placed
low in the settlement’s hierarchy. This placement
stemmed from several factors: the traditional En-
glish-French rivalry in Europe; the English—
French colonial rivalry in North America; the
HBC-NWC fur trade rivalry; and the memory of
the Seven Oaks killings. Thus approximately half
the Red River Settlement population was placed in
an inferior economic and social position early in

k Settle- North America east of the Rocky Mountains. Fort the settlement’s history. Natives formed the bot-
the HBC Gibraltar [T was renamed Fort Garry and became tom of the hierarchy almost immediately. Their
‘ompany the seat of HBC governance. services were no longer needed as the settlement
but the The Red River Settlement, slow to become es- grew less and less directly involved in the day-
of, first, tablished at first, began to grow in size and com- to-day trade for furs (Livermore 1976:167; Judd
' agricul- plexity. In addition to the original Scottish Pres- 1980:307).
vere fre- byterian farmers, HBC ‘‘servants,’* as employees Economic and social differentiation within this
obstacle were called, were permitted to retire to the settle- hierarchy became greater over time. In 1831,
een Fort ment between 1821 and 1825 (Livermore 1976:74, George Simpson, the overseas Governor of the
askatch- 163). With them they brought their Native wives HBC, and John G. McTavish, the Chief Factor of
tage was and mixed-blood children whom they had formerly Moose Factory, returned to the settlement with
e settle- been forced to abandon when they were sent back theirnew English brides. This act, along with Simp-
| its own to Britain at the expiration of their employment son’s jettisoning of Margaret Taylor—the longest
f Mani- contracts (Van Kirk 1980:48). Thus English and lasting of his mixed-blood consorts—and their two
ivermore Scottish, Presbyterian and Anglican, traders, sons, was an example that was quickly followed by
ie HBC- clerks, tripmen, laborers, and artisans began to set-  other members of the elite (Van Kirk 1980:200).
disman- tle at Red River. Another new segment of the set- Further, the English lifestyle that accompanied
mounted tlement’s population resulting from layoffs was the these new brides served to emphasize the eco-
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nomic and social differences that were already in
place. English-speaking mixed-bloods saw their
status diminish. Women were *‘turned off,” i.e.,
passed on to ancther man of their own kind, by
their husbands who could afford English wives.
Brown (1980) and Van Kirk (1980) provide ex-
tended discussions of the roles of women in the fur
trade. Mixed-blood males were restricted in their
vertical mobility within the HBC (Judd 1980:312).
The Métis were even further reduced in economic
and social position because of their genetic and
cultural background.

Also in 1831 a new headquarters was built by
the HBC. Named Lower Fort Garry because of its
location 20 miles downstream from the Forks, it
boasted the first stone dwelling house in the set-
tlement and was surrounded in 1839 by a stone
wall that was intended to: (1) relocate the center of
the Red River Settlement away from the Forks, (2)
facilitate the ease of water transport between the
Red River Settlement and Norway House, (3) pro-
vide protection from heavy floods such as the one
that had severely damaged Fort Garry in 1826, and
(4) provide protection against attack from the Mé-
tis or from the Americans (Watson 1928:3; Ross
1957:141). Although its defensive capabilities
were never tested, it was safe from high water.
And while it succeeded in facilitating water trans-
port in the North, it quickly failed as the new hub
of the settlement. :

In response to the inertia of economic and social
life centered at the Forks, the HBC began con-
struction of Upper Fort Garry in 1835 (cf. Loewen
and Monks 1986, 1988). Situated on the highest
available land at the Red—Assiniboine junction, the
fort housed the Company’s administrative offices
and officers. From here, the HBC governed not
only the Red River Settlement but the entire North-
ern Department.

Unrest born of economic distress was a major
agent of change in the Red River Settlement. Trad-
ing in furs was an exclusive prerogative of the
HBC and was rigidly enforced. Agriculture was
unsuccessful more times than not due to inexperi-
ence on the settlers’ parts and to plant and animal
domesticates that were not adapted to local condi-
tions. When crops were good, there was no market

HISTORICAL ARCHAEOLOGY, VOLUME 2§

except the HBC. The Métis hunters who produced
pemmican were similarly affected because of the
unpredictable bison herd movements and because
the HBC was again their only market. Often, either
agriculture or the hunt was successful in any given
year, which tended to keep prices paid by the HBC
up. The greatest irony arose when both pursuits
were successful in the same year, because thig
caused prices paid by the HBC to fall sharply
(Ross 1957:335). The only manufacture from the
settlement, Red River cloth, was coarse and infe-
rior, and it could not profitably be exported to
Europe, the lower St. Lawrence area, or the United
States. ‘‘Buffalo’’ robes were a profitable export
after 1850, but by then most of the animals had
been exterminated so the advantage was short-
lived.

In 1846 a detachment of 347 troops, principally
the Sixth Regiment of Foot, was sent from En-
gland to the settlement. Ostensibly to protect the
settlement from Americans during the Oregon
Boundary Dispute, an event which was settled sev-
eral days before the troops left for North America,
the garrison was in fact requested by the HBC to
preserve order in the Red River Settlement. Half
the garrison was quartered at Lower Fort Garry
while the remainder, including the commanding
officers, was housed at Upper Fort Garry. This
latter fort, built in 1836 and also made of stone,
was located on the highest ground at the Forks and
housed the HBC elite. The garrison lasted from
1846 until 1848 and preserved the peace more by
providing a larger market for the settlement’s prod-
ucts than by military force. When they left, a re-
placement militia of Chelsea Pensioners was un-
able to control the unrest that resurfaced.

In 1849, through bad judgment on the HBC's
part, Guillaume Sayer and three other Métis were
charged with illegally trading their furs to the
Americans rather than to the HBC. They, like
many other Métis, had taken opportunitics where
they found them (Ross 1957:336), a common phe-
nomenon among economically and socially disad-
vantaged groups (Cross 1970:184-185). Sayer
was found guilty, but no sentence was imposed
because there were 377 guns in the Métis crowd
waiting outside the courthouse (Ross 1957: 374).
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From that point onward§ the HBC monopoly in
uadmg furs was’ broif

uﬁd to grow in-the s. but access to major
markets was still;rasticted. Either the HBC's tra-
ditional route through:Norway House and York
Factory, or the néwly developing cart traffic with
St. Paul were the only two major ways of bringing
goods to and from the settlement. The HBC con-
trolled the former route, and the Métis and Amer-
icans dominated the latter. Despite the arrival of
the railhead at Rock Island on the Mississippi in
1854 and the establishment of steamboat contact
between St. Paul and the Red River Settlement in
1859, it was still judged necessary by the HBC to
request a garrison of the Royal Canadian Rifles
from Ontario between 1857 and 1861. Like the
Sixth Regiment, they were housed at Upper Fort
Garry, which had been doubled in size in 1853,
and they provided an enlarged market for settlers’
products. Further, they re-emphasized the HBC
control of the settlement, and they signalled En-
glish Anglican support of the HBC from Ontario.
Canadian confederation occurred in 1867, and
the elite of the Red River Settlement quickly clam-
ored for union with it. The largest opposing faction
was the Métis, still half of the Red River Settle-
ment population (Morton 1957:91; Hargrave 1977:
174). They feared alienation from what they re-
garded, on the basis of their Native ancestry, as
their traditional lands (Morton 1957:115-116).
The Riel Rebellion of 1869 saw the Métis capture
Upper Fort Garry, but they later withdrew at the
advance of an expeditionary force from Ontario.
Many of the Métis were subsequently dispossessed
of their lands, as they had feared. Many moved to
Saskatchewan after Manitoba joined Confedera-
tion in 1870, as a stream of farmers, entrepreneurs,
artisans, and speculators moved to the Red River
Settlement from southern Ontario. The HBC soon
lost its position of economic and social influence
as the population quickly grew and as new capital
and attitudes flowed into the settlement. The Com-
pany ceded its Charter to Canada in 1869, Mani-
toba entered Canadian Confederation in 1870, The
City of Winnipeg was incorporated in 1874, and
the Canadian Pacific Railway link to Ontario,

promised as a condition of Manitoba’s entry into
confederation, reached the city in 1881. No longer
an isolated colony based on the fur trade, the Red
River Settlement had grown into Canada’s west-
ernmost city and its gateway to the plains.

Analysis of Upper Fort Garry

The archival data on which the following anal-
yses and interpretations are based derive from a
thorough inspection of written and pictorial docu-
ments concerning the architectural history at Up-
per Fort Garry. These documents were examined
in the Hudson’s Bay Company Archives (Win-
nipeg), the Provincial Archives of Manitoba (Win-
nipeg), the Public Archives of Canada (Ottawa),
and the Public Records Office (Kew, England).
These data are set out in detail in Loewen and
Monks (1986) and are partially summarized in
Loewen and Monks (1988). The archaeological
data incorporated in this article derive from exca-
vations of the southwest corner of the fort that
were conducted by the author in 1981, 1982, and
1983 (Monks 1982, 1983, 1984). Published works
dealing with the fort, the settlement, and the fur
trade were also widely consulted, as noted in the
bibliographic references throughout the paper.

Pictorial data consisted of scale plans, sketch
plans, illustrations, and photographs. These data
vary in their accuracy and completeness (Loewen
and Monks 1988:2). There is, nevertheless, a core
of accurate and reliable illustrations of the fort that
provide the basis for the figures that accompany
this article. Pictorial data do not speak for them-
selves; rather, they provide the observer with vi-
sual cues that must be interpreted. Written histor-
ical documents and published works on the history
of the fort and the settlement provide guidelines
with varying degrees of reliability for interpreting
the visual cues. Generally speaking, the greater the
degree of contemporaneity between the illustra-
tions and the written documents, the greater the
degree of likelihood that interpretations of the
former based on the latter are reliable.

Notwithstanding a concerted effort to examine
all the available documents on the fort’s architec-
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ture, there areq}lll obvious gaps in the historical ter crumbled under La Pérouse’s attack, and the show
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information is and is not communicated (Liver-
more 1976:192; Judd 1980:311).

External Communication: Form

Some furdamental questions arise in the context
of external communication: Why was Upper Fort
Garry constructed as a fort in the first place? Why
was it constructed in its particular form? Why was
it expanded in 1852-1853? And, at which target
audience(s) was it directed? If the concept of non-
verbal communication applies here, and if eco-
nomic and social competition was the major caus-
ative agent in the settlement’s evolution, one
would expect to find an initial architectural condi-
tion that emphasized the HBC’s dominant position
as founder and sponsor of the settlement. Further,
one would expect to find architectural changes
through time that attempted to maintain that posi-
tion at critical junctures in the settlement’s history.

The original forts in the area had been con-
structed during a period of fur trade rivalry, some-
times intense, and they had been true defensive
forts. They had also been constructed of wood. By
1836 when Upper Fort Garry was built, there was
no organizational rivalry in the fur trade and no
political threat from either the east or the south.
Why, then, was a fort constructed at all, let alone
one of stone? One possibility is British eccentric-
ity: after all, they had built Fort Prince of Wales of
stone a hundred years earlier. Indeed, the lime-
stone from which both Upper and Lower Forts
Garry were built was available at the latter site and
was judged to be cheaper than wood (Watson
1928:3). Unlike Upper Fort Garry, though, Fort
Prince of Wales was built during a period of con-

Itis also reasonable to suggest that the stone fort
construction resulted from a desire to provide shej-
ter against damaging floods. The damage to Fort
Garry by the 1826 flood had been a powerful ob-
ject lesson, and the construction of Lower Fort
Garry on one of the highest points along the Red
River certainly lends support to the suggestion. On
the other hand, what advantages do bastions pro-
vide against flooding at either Upper or Lower For
Garry? Why would one require an elevated walk-
way around the entire interior of Upper Fort Gar.
ry’s walls? Why would one construct walls with
rifle ports at Lower Fort Garry? And why would
one build bastions with cannon ports at Upper Fort
Garry if flooding were the prime concern? The
anti-flooding notion awaits further support.

In truth, both Lower and Upper Forts Garry
were built as a signal by the HBC to the settlers
that any attempt to upset the economic and social
order could and would be resisted by force. This
argument accounts for the permanence signalled
by stone walls, bastions with cannon ports, interior
gallery, and, at Lower Fort Garry, rifle ports in the
walls. It also accounts for the presence of two mil-
itary garrisons within the forts (1846-1848 and
1857-1861) and the prohibition of public access to
most of the interior of Upper Fort Garry during the
18461848 garrison. Indeed, the site at which Up-
per Fort Garry was located had the dual advantages
of defensibility in the event of conflict and acces-
sibility for commercialism (Ross 1957:142). The
suggestion that the walls were meant to communi-
cate dominance also receives support. Archaeolog-
ical evidence from Upper Fort Garry indicates that
walls were placed on foundations 50 cm thick,
whereas the wooden fur warehouse inside the
southwest corner of the fort was placed on stone
foundations 1 m thick (Monks 1984:35). Like Fort

b elithantog. St Al s et

flict between England and France. Both forts, on
the other hand, were shoddily constructed; the lat-

Walsh, the exterior walls at Upper Fort Garry and
a number of other fur trade posts were largely for
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show, and they often collapséd (Eannekoek 1987:
15). The sturdiness of the. ﬂxx,wehouse founda-

tions at the Upper Fort. re\eea;q w,}lere the HBC's _

true priorities lay. No explananon can be offered,
however, for the fact that the 'will foundations at ~
Lower Fort Garry were 1 m thick.

But who was a threat to the HBC? Certainly it

_tis and thqe

was built afteﬂhe start of Upper Fort Garry's con-
struction. at a,R@e when relations between the Mé-
BC were deteriorating.

An examm tlon of the changes in external ar-
chitectufe th#dugh time reveals several other nota-
ble events. In 1853, an expansion that doubled the
fort area was begun. In 1871 the southeast corner

was not the retired HBC employees nor their of the fort was altered to allow external access to
wives, nor their mixed-blood offspring. Indeed the retail and liquor stores. Finally, in 1882 the fort
these Englishmen and Scotsmen worked hard to  was dismantled. Was the 1853 expansion the result

find positions for their sons with the Company and
to marry their daughters to Company officers (Van
Kirk 1980:160). Neither was it likely that the Sel-
kirk settlers posed a threat to their original patron.
The threat of attack by the Sioux must be consid-
ered because the Assiniboine River is reported to
have marked the southern limit of Cree and Assini-
boine territory and the northern limit of Sioux in-
cursion (Guinn 1980:15-25), but large-scale con-

of flood damage? There is no evidence to support
such a position; in fact, the maximum floodwater
depth in the fort compound was knee-deep, and
permanent damage was minimal (Guinn 1980:86—
87). Was it to accommodate the growth in business
experienced by the Company, as is so often as-
sumed? It is true that two large storehouses had
been built outside the fort between 1846 and 1848,
and plans had been made to enclose them, but they

frontation between Europeans and Sioux in the were not carried out until 1853 (Guinn 1980:87-
. Forks area is not recorded. Indeed, the HBC took 88). Further, by 1857 very little use was being
_great pains to remain on good terms with Native made of the new area enclosed by the walls except
groups who were the primary producers of furs. for the presence of the two existing storehouses
The groups with whom the HBC and the Selkirk and a new residential building for the Governor of
settlers had historically experienced poor relations  Assiniboia. There seems to be no compelling
were the NWC and the Métis. Watson (1928:3) reason for the fort to have been expanded at this
states that fear of attack by Métis or Americans lay time.

behind the choice of location for Lower Fort
Garry. A reading of contemporary documents
(Gunn and Tuttle 1880; Ross 1957; Hargrave
1977) leaves the impression that relations with the
Americans were less worrisome than those with
the Métis, even during the Oregon Boundary Dis-

If one interprets the site through a theory of
non-verbal communication, a different picture
emerges. The poor economic conditions in the set-
tlement during the 1840s, and the result of the
Sayer trial on 17 May 1849 (Ross 1957:372-373),
had caused the HBC's position in the settlement to

pute. After 1821, the Métis portion of the Red be threatened. In this context, the doubling in size
River Settlement population was economically, so- of Upper Fort Garry, with the inclusion of an elab-
cially, and religiously opposed to the HBC, at least orate stone gateway, is seen as yet another effort
in the HBC’s perception if not in actual fact, and on the Company’s part to reassert its dominant
this situation endured until the 1870s. The con- position at Red River. This extension of the Fort,
struction of Upper Fort Garry was one of the HBC it should be noted, was decided upon in June 1849
responses to this adversarial relationship. It is (Loewen and Monks 1986:98, 100), even though
worth noting the chronology of these events. Stone the plans were not executed until after the 1852
and the technology to work it had always been flood. There were no bastions, no interior walk-
available to the HBC and the NWC, but only in way, and no military inclusions in the expansion,
1830, after the emergence of a sedentary Métis and the enclosure was made of double walls of
population, did the HBC begin to employ this ma- squared oak timbers separated by rubble fill. In-
terial and technology (Ross 1957:141). Note, too, deed, construction of this sort was not even pro-
that the stone wall surrounding Lower Fort Garry  tection against prairie fires. Rather, recognizing
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that it could no longer maintain control of the set-
tlement by military force, the HBC chose to match
growth in size and complexity of the settlement
with growth in size and complexity of the fort.

In 1871 a small but important change took place
in the fort, and it underscores the changing rela-
tionship of the HBC to the settlers. The retail store
was made accessible from outside the fort whereas
formerly it was necessary to enter the fort to reach
the store. This change in accessibility was precip-
itated by the collapse of the fort wall in this loca-
tion, but the collapse itself, after only 35 years of
use, indicates clearly that the fort walls were built
principally for their visual effect instead of their
defensive capabilities. Also, the liquor store was
located outside the south wall at this time. These
changes are significant because even though the
public still had access to the interior of the fort, the
HBC was indicating its prerogative to deny access
to its administrative compound and restrict its deal-
ings with settlers to those of a formal, commercial
nature. This statement of prerogative was essen-
tially the same act that took place between 1846
and 1848 when the military garrison, requested by
the HBC, controlled the larger part of the Upper
Fort Garry compound and obliged settlers to con-
duct their business with the Company in a sepa-
rate, walled-off area with its own entrance through
the fort’s east wall.

The dismantling of the fort in 1882 is widely
attributed to the rapid growth of Winnipeg after the
railway arrived in 1881, especially to the desire to
straighten Main Street. It may be true that the
southeast corner of the fort was in the way of a
direct access to the bridge across the Assiniboine
River, and it may be true that the external walls
were deteriorating, but another interpretation can
also be made. The fort had lost its symbolic value
by this time due both to the rapid growth of Win-
nipeg after Manitoba joined Canadian Confedera-
tion and to the relocation of the economic center of
Winnipeg to the north of the HBC reserve land.
The emergence of a commercial and agricultural
economy divorced from control by the HBC re-
moved all possible claim the Company may have
had to economic and social dominance. With its
superior position gone there was no need to main-
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tain the primary symbol of that position, and the
fort was dismantled.

External Communication: Space

Construction of Upper Fort Garry at the geo-
graphic center of the Red River Settlement consti-
tuted a statement by the HBC that it intended to
dominate the economic and social life of the set.
tlement. The HBC was not alone, though, in it
efforts to establish a presence at the heart of the
settlement. The Catholic Church was the largest
landowner in the settlement after the HBC. The
church was established on its major block of prop-
erty directly across the Red River from both Fort
Douglas and Upper Fort Garry. In their physical
opposition to each other, the HBC and the Church
communicated very clearly to the settlement not
only where the center of activity was located bu
also who the main players were in the economic
and social life of the settlement and which constit.
uencies they represented. The Catholic Church, lo-
cated on the more heavily wooded and agricultur-
ally poorer east bank of the river and representing
the Métis, faced the HBC, located on the less
heavily wooded and agriculturally more favored
west bank and representing the English Protestant
fur trade elite and the Scottish Presbyterian agrar-
ian populace.

Internal Communication: Form

Buildings inside the fort were examined to see if
any of their characteristics would permit a reliable
distinction between residential and non-residential
structures to be made. Only a tentative distinction
could be made between the two types of structures.
Exterior wall coverings on residential buildings
were either horizontal clapboard or lath and plaster
whereas non-residential buildings could have any
of five outer coverings. Paint was always applied
to residential buildings, and although non-resides-
tial buildings could be painted, they were outoum-
bered 2:1 by unpainted ones. Cellars were located
under two of six residential structures—under the
Chief Factor's house and the Governor's house—
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but were not found in any of the 15 non-residential
buildings. These modest results suggest that resi-
dential buildings tended to be painted horizontal

clapboard or laftrand plaster and that they may

have an internalzellar: Non-residential buildings,
by contrast, tended to have a wide variety of outer
wall materials, to be unpainted, and not to have an
internal cellar.

internal Communication: Space

Figure 3 shows that buildings inside Upper Fort
Garry are organized in relation to a primary longi-
tudinal axis running from the midpoint of the north
entrance to the equivalent point at the south en-
trance. The long axes of buildings inside the fort
lie parallel to the primary axis and to the east or
west of it (secondary axes) with some notable ex-
ceptions. A tertiary minor axis that could be con-
sidered an adjunct of the eastern secondary axis
exists just inside the east wall. Each secondary
longitudinal axis forms the centerline for a row of
three buildings. The apparent lack of symmetry in
the smaller sizes of buildings on the east secondary
axis is compensated for by the presence of the
tertiary/adjunct axis on that side. A balance is thus
maintained. Two structures lie on the primary lon-
gitudinal axis—namely, the flagpole and the Gov-
ernor’s house. The spatial relation of these struc-
tures to each other, and the depiction of a road
entering the fort from the north, indicate that the
north gate is the main entrance. The Governor's
house is the only building within the fort to have a
long axis that is transverse to the primary longitu-
dinal axis, thereby establishing the primary trans-
verse axis. The establishment of this primary trans-
verse axis focuses attention on the conceptual
center of the fort compound, and the symbolic

meaning of all other buildings must be viewed in

relation to it.

The pattern indicated by the arrangement of
buildings within the fort reflects a common orga-
nization of space based on a medieval European
social matrix. This pattern is derived from, and
still seen in, the Royal Court of England on non-
religious ceremonial occasions, in houses of Par-

~ liament modelled along English lines, and in the

seating of guests at a formal dinner. The Gover-
nor’s house at Upper Fort Garry, at the intersection
of ‘thé- prithary longitudinal and transverse axes,
stands intthe same position as a king or queen to
his/her couit, to the speaker, the monarch, or his/
her representative in Parliament, and to the host at
a formal dinner. Positions of honor or importance
are found to the immediate right of the focal point,
hence the colloquial phrases ‘‘right hand man’’
and ‘‘upper hand’’ meaning the right hand (Wilde-
blood 1973:97). The monarch’s close relatives and
trusted advisers in court stand to his/her right; the
prime minister and his/her cabinet sits to the im-
mediate right of the speaker’s chair in Parliament,
and further from the speaker’s chair are the re-
maining government members; the guest of honor
at a formal dinner is always seated on the right of
the host (Cooke 1896:202; Post 1922:178-179,
211, 212; Raymond 1965:109-111). So at Upper
Fort Garry the Recorder’s house is to the immedi-
ate right of the Governor's house, and the Men’s
house is the next building along on the right. This
pattern mirrors exactly the seating at a formal din-
ner with no hostess (Raymond 1965:111). On the
left (west) secondary axis lie non-residential stor-
age buildings. This position reflects the same sec-
ondary importance accorded to guests on the host’s
left at a formal dinner (Post 1922:179).

The social hierarchy of the HBC and the District
of Assiniboia is thus reflected in the positioning of
buildings at Upper Fort Garry in 1846. The Gov-
emnor of Assiniboia, his family, and HBC officers
lived in the Governor’s house. The Recorder of
Rupertsland, a quasi-judicial executive position in
the government of Assiniboia held considerable
power and was funded by the HBC, thus showing
the dominant position, economically and physi-
cally, of the HBC in relation to *‘secular’’ govern-
ment in the area. The Men’s house was occupied
by clerks and permanent employees (male) of the
HBC.

Upon entering the fort, the visitor was immedi-
ately struck by a powerful symbolic message. The
flag, as seen from ground level at the main en-
trance, flew above all buildings within the fort.
Indeed, the flag itself contained a powerful mes-
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FIGURE 4. Pian of Upper Fort Garry in 1848 (after Loewen and Monks 1986: Fig. 6).

Figure 4 indicates that the principle of symmetry
has been maintained, but the orientation of the fort
has changed. The maintenance of symmetry has
been achieved differently at this time, however,
due to anomalous circumstances. The enclosure of
the east side of the fort for use by the HBC was
occasioned by the Sixth Regiment of Foot occu-
pancy of the fort from October 1846 until August
1848. This garrison required that additional space
and facilities be developed, hence the construction
of an oven, a cookhouse, and ablution sheds for
the military inside the fort. Outside, two large
storehouses and a powder magazine were built by
the HBC. Although symmetry on the secondary
axes and the tertiary/adjunct axis transcended the
fort walls, the balance of buildings and space was
altered. The weight of buildings tended toward the
east, despite the removal of the bell tower,
whereas the weight of space tended toward the
west in the larger military portion of the fort. It is
particularly noteworthy that the orientation of the
fort changed by this time without disrupting the
established axes or the principle of symmetry.
The removal of the flagpole to the center of the
southern courtyard signalled this reorientation, and
it directed attention to the south gate which over-

looked the Forks, the main traffic intersection in
the settlement. This recrientation maintained not
only the principle of symmetry but also that of the
orientation of buildings and activities in relation to
the new main entrance. Major changes occurred,
though, in the proximity of the Governor’s house,
now occupied by the officers of the Sixth Regi-
ment, to the new main entrance, the redefinition of
what was the public area (i.e., the HBC compound
that could be entered only by the east gate), and the
consequent distinction between what was a public
entrance (the east gate—or postern—as it was
called) and what was a main entrance (the south
gate).

This reorientation of focus, yet maintenance of
symmetry, indicates both the common ideological
background of the military and the HBC and the
lower-level cognitive distinctions between them.
The common ideological background is reflected
not only in the symmetry and orderliness of build-
ings (cf. Deetz 1977:39, 43), some of which al-
ready existed prior to the garrison and others of
which were built to accommodate it, but also in the
distribution of personnel among buildings. The
military officers took over the Governor’s house,
thus placing them closer, albeit marginally, to the
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new main (south) entrance than they would have
been if the original orientation of the fort had been
maintained. In this context, the military officers
symbolically advance to a more prominent leader-
ship position vis-a-vis the visitor entering the fort
than was the case with the non-military Governor
when the fort was first built. This positioning of
the officers’ quarters close to the main gate ap-
proximates the condition described by Murray
(1985: Figure 22) at Fort Walsh. The means by
which leadership is effected in the military as op-
posed to the civilian realm seems to be reflected in
this reorientation of the fort. The act of *‘re-
ceiving'’ guests was implied by the original orien-
tation of the fort, but the act of confronting intrud-
ers and/or leading troops was implied by its
reorientation under the military.

Even if one were to argue that practical neces-
sity dictated the construction of storehouses out-
side the fort, near a main gate, and away from the
flood-prone and unstable riverbank, the reorienta-
tion of the fort's focus from north to south could
not be explained. Visitors could still pass through
the north gate and be confronted by the original
impressive spectacle. Temporary cookhouses and
ovens could have been built south of the Gover-
nor’s house, and troops could have been housed in
any combination of extant buildings along the west
wall. Domination of the critical transportation
junction formed by the Red and Assiniboine con-
fluence effectively meant control of the movement
of goods, people, and information within the set-
tlement. The military interpretation of this exercise
lay directly behind the reorientation of the fort.

The common right/left theme of the HBC and
the military is maintained after reorientation. The
Governor’s house is still the focal point of the
compound, but now in a military context closer to
the new main entrance. The central and southwest-
ern storehouses, those immediately to the right of
the officers, were refitted as troop barracks. No
information is available on the distribution of ranks
of enlisted men among the barracks, only that ser-
geants’ rooms were walled off (HBCA 1846), pre-
sumably because many had brought their wives
and children (PRO 1847). The northwestern store-
house was designated as a barrack and commissar-
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e18’ quarters. By cop.
trast, the HBC enclosure lay#fo the left of the of.
ficers’ residence, an indication of the Company's
subordinate position in relation to the state as rep-
resented by the military.

Within the HBC enclosure the symmetry ang
organizational characteristics of the fort as a whole
break down. The models provided by the medijeva]
Great Halls, the House of Parliament, and the for.
mal dinner cannot be applied because of the anom.
alous circumstances engendered by the Company
itself in requesting a garrison of troops. It is worth
noting in this connection that the Recorder was
housed outside the fort beginning in 1848 (Loewen
and Monks 1986:67). His house was given over o
senior HBC personnel at that point. In sum, the
HBC relinquished its political and social domi-
nance in the Red River Settlement to the military
garrison it had requested. In so doing, the Com.
pany relinquished the symmetry and organizatiog
of its buildings to the military which reorganized
the symbols of authority according to military
rather than civilian precepts. This reorganization
shifted the focus of the fort to the south, where it
subsequently stayed, while at the same time it pre-
served the overall organization, symmetry, and
concepts of left and right that the military shared
with the HBC.

Figure 5 shows clearly the lasting effect of the
1846~1848 military garrison in terms of the south-
ward orientation of the fort. Doubling of the fort’s
length and construction of new buildings was ac-
complished according to the same principles of
symmetry as noted above. It is noteworthy that the
bulk of new construction lay at right angles to the
primary longitudinal axis, thus establishing at least
two more transverse axes. How to label these axes
becomes a problem that may reflect a diffusion of
focus within the fort. The primary transverse axis
is still indicated by the building now known as the
“‘front house’’ (the old Governor’s house). A sec-
ond major transverse axis is indicated by the ‘‘new
house’’ in which the Governor of Assiniboia now
lived with his family. This house, however, faces
the new bastion (north) gate, thus promoting an
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FIGURE 5. Plan of Upper Fort Garry in 1857 (after Loewen and Monks 1986: Fig. 14).

orientation that faces in the opposite direction from
the other buildings in the compound. A third trans-
verse axis is indicated by the ‘‘office’’ in which the
HBC's business was conducted. Like the front
house, it faces south. The well, located between
the office and the new house, reinforces the im-
portance of the primary longitudinal axis but does
not establish another transverse axis. :
The diffusion of focus within the fort by 1857
was a signal that the political and economic sys-
tems of the Red River Settlement were beginning
to diverge. The enlargement of the fort in 1853
provided enough space for these two important
aspects of the HBC's operation to be made phys-
ically manifest. Internal differentiation and spe-
cialization within the fort indicated that an evolu-
tionary process was at work throughout the Red
River Settlement. The profitability of the bison
hunts had by this time become severely reduced,
on the one hand, while on the other the opportu-
nities offered by free trade entrepreneurship and
sedentary agriculture in the settlement were asso-
ciated with a continued growth of population and
social and economic differentiation within it
(Monks 1985:408). Also, with the extension of the

American railhead to the Mississippi River in
1854, the assumption of York Factory’s entrepdt
role by Upper Fort Garry necessitated a greater
separation of economic and other functions than
was previously the case. The HBC symbolically
indicated its intent to lead the economic and social
differentiation of the settlement in these circum-
stances by expanding the fort differentiating its in-
ternal foci.

Figure 6 shows how this diffusion of focus was
resolved; namely, by creating an internal divi-
sion—i.e., a fence—that separated the social and
political compound at the north end from the eco-
nomic compound in the south. The proportions of
the fort’s internal area are revealing. The eco-
nomic activities received far more space than the
social and political activities, and this symbolized
their relative importance from the HBC's point of
view. The Company still ruled—this was the in-
tended message, despite the economic reality in
the settlement at the time.

Further, a continuation of the medieval Great
Hall model is still evident in the northern com-
pound. Significantly, the flagpole is now situated
in front of the Governor’s house, the latter stand-
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FIGURE 6. Plan of Upper Fort Garry in 1870 (after Loewen and Monks 19866: Fig. 23).

ing in the position of honor—the **upper hand’*—
in the center of the wall facing the bastion gate. A
degree of symmetry is maintained in this com-
pound, particularly in the layout of garden space
and the approach to the Governor’s house. The
addition of Company buildings to this compound
destroyed the intended symmetry, and it symbol-
ized the primacy of economic factors over social
and political ones. It is noteworthy, though, that
out of deference to the social and political leader
the HBC placed gates in the east fort wall near the
two buildings in question so that Company busi-
ness could be conducted with minimal disturbance
to compound residents.

In the larger southern compound, the construc-
tion of new buildings and additions to existing
buildings tended to obscure the former balance and
symmetry. The additional construction, though,
took place around the perimeter of the compound,
leaving the primary longitudinal axis and its sur-
rounding space relatively uncluttered.

The HBC compound, with its additional periph-
eral construction but without its flagpole, commu-
nicated via its buildings that economic function
was of prime importance here now that social and

political functions were being handled in the north.
ern compound. Indeed, the same message is im-
parted by the unequal partitioning of the fort’s ip-
terior. Only the central axis remained uncluttered,
thus continuing to indicate that an hierarchical or-
ganization still was much in evidence within the
economic sector despite the exigencies that the
HBC currently faced. The Great Hall model stil]
applies to the HBC compound, but the emphasis
on different components of the economic system
has changed. With the social functions of the fort
centered in the north compound, the economic pri-
macy of activities in the southern compound be-
came evident. To the right (west) of the HBC of-
fices stood the stores (warehouses) for incoming
and outgoing commercial goods. The economic
activities based on these goods still formed the
basis of the HBC’s position in the settlement and
thus were placed in the positions of honor. To the
left of the offices were residences and the retail
store. HBC personnel and retail sales to settlers
were clearly accorded less importance than the
large HBC enterprise, a departure from the situa-
tion when the fort was first built. _
Figure 7 shows some very significant changes i
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FIGURE 7. Plan of Upper Fort Garry in 1874 (after Loewen and Monks 1986: Fig. 28).

both compounds of the fort. Even more impor-
tantly, the Company made its retail sales outlets,
the sales shop and the liquor store, available from
outside the fort. This development implicitly com-
municated the Company’s right to deny public ac-
cess to its inner compound. In addition, this de-
velopment symbolized the Company’s first steps in
altering its business strategy by taking its retail

" activity to the community instead of requiring the

community to come to it. Also, increased special-
ization in the division of labor within the HBC is
indicated, and this evolutionary growth parallels
developments in the settlement at large.

Inside the HBC compound, the most obvious
change involved the removal of the front house and
the temporary warehouse on the south wall to the
west of the main entrance. This uncluttering of the
compound clearly restored the original model of
the Great Hall now that the HBC offices presided
over the central area of the compound in the
“‘upper hand’* position. To reinforce this model of
domination, the flagpole was removed from the
Governor's compound and placed before the HBC
offices. Also, the installation of a carriageway
along each row of buildings on the secondary lon-

gitudinal axes re-established organization and
symmetry in the HBC operations and divided the
Company’s offices and officers’ residence from
the remainder of the buildings. This reaffirmation
of the Great Hall model was the HBC's final at-
tempt to assert its position subsequent to Manitoba
joining Canada and Winnipeg being incorporated
as a city.

The expansion of buildings in the Governor's
compound conformed to the pattern consistently
seen elsewhere in the fort’s history, and the growth
in the number and diversity of buildings indicated
clearly that social and political diversification was
occurring and was being supported in the Red
River Settlement. Also, as noted above, the two
compounds within the fort are not only completely
separate from one another but also stood back to
back. This positioning mirrors the growth and di-
versity in the settlement itself and signals that the
role of the HBC in determining the social and po-
litical elite of the settlement was becoming less
influential. Further evidence of this fact is seen in
the restriction of secondary and tertiary longitudi-
nal axes to the HBC compound. There was no
transmural continuity of axes except for the pri-




-+ mary one, and even then, the main buildings all sat

transversely on it, thus creating a potential for its
segmentation.

The old pattern to which the additional buildings
in the Governor’s compound adhere is the right/
left dichotomy. The newer buildings to the right of
the Governor’s house were residential buildings,
added to accommodate the additional social and
political elite personnel and their guests. Within
these additions there is yet another division be-
tween front and back in relation to the transverse
axis running the length of the Governor’s house.
The more prestigious individuals occupied the
front building while those of lower position occu-
pied the rear one. To the left of the Governor's
house were added a west wing (function
unknown), a passageway, and a summer kitchen.
The annexes of known function were thus non-
residential, and they were not differentiated into
front and rear as were the buildings on the right.
Nothing definitive can be said about the west wing
due to lack of information.

Summary

It was suggested at the outset of this article that
Upper Fort Garry functioned as a vehicle of non-
verbal communication employed by the HBC to
assert and maintain its economic and social dom-
inance within the Red River Settlement. The loca-
tion, and to a small extent, the construction meth-
ods of buildings inside the fort are seen as elements
of non-verbal communication designed to reflect
and reinforce the quasi-military organization of the
HBC and the functions of different buildings. The
internal and external appearance of the fort are
seen as signals to a diverse audience of target pop-
ulations with whom the HBC interacted and over
whom it wished to maintain economic and social
dominance. The changes through time that one ob-
serves in the architectural organization of the fort
are seen not just as reflections of changes in the
internal and external economic and social organi-
zation of the HBC and the settlement but also as
active ingredients in the effort by the HBC to pro-
mote and maintain its position in these relations.
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An examination of the internal spatial organiza.
tion of Upper Fort Garry reveals evidence of both
continuity and change. Continuity is perceived at 5
relatively deep, unconscious level. The Great Ha]|
model, with its right/left symbolism persists
throughout the fort’s history and was also em.
ployed at a number of other HBC installations in
the Northern Department, e.g., Fort St. Johy
(Fladmark 1985:56-58; Figure 4). This model re.
quires symmetry, a high degree of organization,
and repetitiveness for its symbolism to be ex.
pressed. Once the requisite conditions are met, 3
in Upper Fort Garry, the messages of order, cop-
trol, and dominance are unmistakable. The princj-
ples enunciated by Murray (1985:132ff.) of sym-
metry, organization, and the direct correlation
between rank and location within the compound
are clearly expressed in this case as well. Unlike
Fort Walsh, the highest ranking individuals occupy
buildings facing, but furthest from, the main ep.
trance to their compound. The exception to this
rule is found in the military garrison of 1846-184g
which, like the North West Mounted Police, em.
phasized the leadership role of their elite in the
positioning of their quarters. Thus the juxtaposi.
tion of *‘frontness,” symbolizing leadership and
confrontation, in a military context versus *‘back-
ness,”’ symbolizing control and reception, in a ci-
vilian context still occurs within a commonly held
concept of ‘‘leftness’’ (lesser value) and *‘right-
ness’’ (greater value).

The changes that occur through time inside Up-
per Fort Garry are of a more conscious, superficial
sort. The orientation of the fort shifts from the
settlement to the river; the HBC defers to the mil-
itary but controls the political institutions within
the settlement; the political and social aspects of
the settlement begin to exist independently of the
HBC's economic interests by the later stages of the
fort’s occupancy; the HBC simultaneously appro-
priated the right to restrict public access to its com-
pound and moved its major retail outlets beyond
the confines of the fort compound. Buildings come
and go as necessity dictates, but they do so within
a consistent pattern that symbolizes the HBC's in-
tent to dominate the economic and social life of the
settlement despite the exigencies of the moment.
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The analysis of Upper Fort Garry has shown that
architecture was used to communicate to both ex-
ternal and internal audiences and that this commu-
nication was achieved through both building form
and the organization of space. Growth over time in
the fort’s size and internal complexity proceeded
simultaneously with growth in the settlement’s size
and economic and social complexity. These find-
ings are consistent with the suggestion that struc-
tural investment in the symbolic function of archi-
tecture increases in response to greater social
differentiation (McGuire and Schiffer 1983:281-
283). The lag effect between social inequality and
architectural design noted by McGuire and Schif-
fer (1983:283) may be accounted for in the differ-
ences in permanence between fixed, semi-fixed,
and non-fixed feature elements. Non-fixed feature
elements—i.e., behavior—are most easily altered
in response to economic and social variation over
time. Semi-fixed feature elements are alterable,
but the investment of time, effort, and capital is
greater than in the case of non-fixed feature ele-
ments so changes are generally more *‘costly’’ and
therefore slower. Slowest of all are changes in
fixed feature elements—i.e., buildings and their
locations—because their cost is relatively high.

Conclusion

Papers such as this are vulnerable to the criti-
cism that there is no way to demonstrate objec-
tively that architecture, or any other class of arti-
fact, had any symbolic value and cultural meaning
as claimed here. The informants are long dead,
there is no means of knowing how widely recog-
nized were the symbolic messages embodied in the
fort's architecture, and the documents that do con-
tain indirect indicators of the relationship between
architecture and meaning are biased, inconsistent,
and/or incomplete. Nevertheless, examination of
the form and spatial organization of the fort’s ar-
chitectural components from the perspective of in-
side and outside audiences has revealed a consis-
tently plausible explanation of the empirical world
in terms of non-verbal communication theory. This
consistent plausibility results from the redundancy

) .'-—.,..,_
~ o e -

of visual cues (Rapoport 1982:51) and is the key to
perceiving the non-verbal messages of symbolic
communication (McGuire and Schiffer 1983:297;
Fritz 1987:317). Without its applicability to form
and space, to internal and external communica-
tion, and to all points in the fort’s history, the
validity of the non-verbal communication ap-
proach would be diminished.

Architecture, like documents, clothes, food, or
tools, is a source of encoded cultural information.
While much attention has been devoted by archae-
ologists to understanding such things as the eco-
logical basis for settlement patterning, little energy
has been expended on understanding the cultural
messages of architecture. This article follows the
lead of Deetz (1977), Leone (1973, 1977), Fritz
(1978, 1987), McGuire and Schiffer (1983),
Culpin and Borjes (1981), Murray (1985), and
Rapoport (1982) by attempting to understand these
messages. Studies such as this one can be used as
models for archaeological studies where little or no
documentary evidence is available. Knowing that
differences and relationships between structural
features and the materials they contain may have
symbolic implications will enable researchers to
develop a wider range of potential interpretations
of their data than is often the case at present (Rap-
oport 1982:90-92; Leone 1982:757). Also, using
studies such as this as analogues will help increase
the likelihood that interpretations of data that lack
historical documentation are accurate. Further
studies on the symbolism and non-verbal commu-
nication of material remains should reveal much
about past cultures that cannot be discovered using
currently dominant paradigms.
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